Abstract - INTERMITTENT HYPOXIA TRAINING TO FOSTER BRAIN RECOVERY AFTER ISCHEMIC STROKE IN RATS

Purpose: Ischemic stroke is the leading cause of disability and #5 cause of death in the US. Annually, nearly 800,000 Americans suffer an ischemic stroke, and 130,000 die. The only FDA approved treatment for stroke is recombinant tissue plasminogen activator, but this thrombolytic agent neither protects the affected tissue, nor mitigates the motor or cognitive impairments resulting from stroke.

Intermittent hypoxia training (IHT) has been shown to increase cerebral blood flow, reduce oxidative stress, mobilize cerebroprotective signaling cascades and minimize behavioral deficits in a rat model of Alzheimer's Disease. Moreover, a 20 d IHT program attenuated behavioral deficits and protected neurons in ethanol-withdrawn (EW) rats, even when EW began 35 d after IHT. Therefore, we hypothesize that IHT, initiated in rats after stroke, preserves motor and cognitive function, relative to non-IHT rats.

Methods: Ischemic stroke will be produced in rats by 90 min occlusion and abrupt reperfusion of the middle cerebral artery (MCA). Motor function and coordination will be evaluated by the rotarod test before and at 1 week intervals after MCA occlusion (MCAO). Rats must balance on a rotating cylinder that accelerates at a constant speed. High fall latency represents intact motor function. The Morris Water Maze (MWM) assesses spatial learning and memory. Rats are placed in an open, circular pool and must find a sunken platform within 90 s. 24 h after stroke, rats undergoing IHT will breathe moderately hypoxic gas ($10\% O_2$) for 5-8 cycles, each lasting 5-10 min, with intervening 4 min room air breathing, for 20 consecutive days. These rats will be compared to an MCAO group continuously exposed to $21\% O_2$. At 21 d post-stroke, the brain will be harvested for analyses of infarct and neuroprotective proteins.

Results: In pre-stroke testing, the time taken to solve the MWM fell progressively over 10 days, indicating spatial learning and memory, and fall latency on the rotarod lengthened over 5 days, reflecting improved coordination and possibly a training effect. These studies have established the pre-stroke baselines for assessment of IHT's impact on post-stroke recovery.

Conclusions: We expect that IHT given after stroke will minimize motor and cognitive impairment by activating neuroprotective signaling cascades culminating in expression of anti-oxidant and anti-inflammatory proteins.

SIGNATURE PAGE

INTERMITTENT HYPOXIA TRAINING TO FOSTER BRAIN RECOVERY AFTER ISCHEMIC STROKE IN RATS

Steven Shea Ruelas, B.A.

APPROVED:

Major Professor

Committee Member

Committee Member

University Member

Chair, Department of Physiology

Dean, Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences

TITLE PAGE

INTERMITTENT HYPOXIA TRAINING TO FOSTER BRAIN RECOVERY AFTER ISCHEMIC STROKE IN RATS

INTERNSHIP PRACTICUM REPORT

Presented to the Graduate Council of the Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences University of North Texas Health Science Center at Fort Worth in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

For the Degree of

Master of Science

By

Steven Shea Ruelas, B.A., Fort Worth, Texas April 2018

Acknowledgements

This was my first experience in scientific research and experimental design that was made possible through this physiology internship practicum. The skills and knowledge I have gained this past year would not have been possible without the guidance, teaching, and assistance from several people.

First I would like to thank my major professor and mentor, Dr. Robert T. Mallet, who after teaching me renal physiology in the Med Sci program allowed me to join his lab. I was immediately enticed by his research in hypoxia as a treatment for stroke, as this illness has affected my family. Dr. Mallet proved to be wise, caring, motivating, supportive, encouraging, and an excellent teacher. The lessons and skills that I have learned from him have forever changed me and will continue to serve me well as I continue on my path to medical school.

My committee members, Dr. Marianna Jung and Dr. Ann Schreihofer, for sharing their knowledge and expertise with me this past year. I started this project with no research experience and they proved to be valuable resources for learning and improving the various skills I needed to carry out this experiment. I also want to express my gratitude to my university member, Dr. Hriday Das, for being apart of my committee and offering his insight to my project.

I also want to thank Dr. Myoung-Gwi Ryou, who has also been an unofficial member of my committee. He is a Co-PI on our study and he is the one who taught me the middle cerebral artery occlusion surgery. Learning this surgery was the most difficult part of the entire project. Dr. Ryou's patience, guidance, and expertise helped me get through the giant learning curve and now I am able to perform these surgeries on my own.

In addition, without Arthur Williams this experiment would not be possible. He has assisted me in all of the surgeries and without his support none of them would have been successful. Another thankyou to Daniel Metzger, PhD, who volunteered his time to teach me how to perform the Rotarod test in rats. I would also like to thank Dr. Derrick Shreihofer for allowing me to conduct the surgeries in his lab so we can use in cerebral blood flow doppler instrument. Most recently, thank you to Anthony Oppong-Gyebi, PhD, and Trinh Nguyen, PhD who have both helped me improve my surgical techniques. Thank you both for volunteering your time to teach me your tricks and tips for performing a successful MCAO surgery.

Table of Contents

ABSTRACT	1
SIGNATURE PAGE	2
TITLE PAGE	3
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	4
LIST OF FIGURES	6
CHAPTER 1: BACKGROUND AND LITERATURE	15
CHAPTER 2: RESEARCH PROJECT	25
I. SPECIFIC AIMS	25
II. SIGNIFICANCE AND INNOVATION	25
III. MATERIALS AND METHODS	27
IV. RESULTS	32
V. DISCUSSION	33
VI. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	34
VII. REFERENCES	36

List of Figures



(Mallet and Ryou, 2017)

Figure 1 Middle cerebral artery occlusion (MCAO) initiates the ischemia-reperfusion-induced cascade of brain injury. Ischemia initiates a cascade of mechanisms that culminate in death of the brain parenchyma, irreversible brain damage and persistent neurocognitive, and motor impairment. Interruption of blood flow causes an abrupt decline in Gibbs-free energy of ATP hydrolysis, $\Delta G_{ATP}(1)$, which provokes glutamate secretion from depolarized excitatory neurons (2). Energy depletion and glutamate stimulation impair cellular Ca²⁺ homeostasis, thereby increasing intracellular Ca²⁺ (3). Ca²⁺, in turn, activates nitric oxide synthase to overproduce NO (4); phospholipases that degrade membrane phospholipids (5); proteases (6) that degrade cellular proteins and activate proapoptotic Bax; and secretion of Fas ligand, which initiates the extrinsic apoptosis cascade (7). Reperfusion reintroduces O₂ to the electron (e⁻)-rich environment of the ischemic cells, triggering formation of superoxide (8), a precursor of hydroxyl radical and, via biradical condensation with NO, ONOO⁻. These compounds inactivate energy-generating and antioxidant enzymes (9) and activate MMPs (10) which degrade the extracellular matrix and blood-brain barrier (BBB), causing inflammation, edema, brain swelling, and decreased cerebral blood flow. The extrinsic (11) and intrinsic (12) apoptotic cascades activate caspase 3 to degrade cellular components including DNA. This damage, and the secondary energy depletion due to underperfusion of the edematous tissue and enzyme inactivation (13), conspires to kill neurons and other cells.



Figure 2 Erythropoietin's protective mechanisms in ischemic and postischemic brain. Erythropoietin activates several complementary mechanisms which collectively increase the brain parenchyma's resistance to ischemia-reperfusion. We expect that intermittent hypoxia training (IHT) will increase erythropoietin's activities and consequently lower pro-inflammatory cytokines and metalloproteinase activity and increase contents of antioxidant enzymes and angiogenic factors, as well as Bcl-2 and Bcl-X_L, thereby decreasing the amount of apoptosis occurring in the infarct.

(Mallet & Ryou, 2017)



igure 3 Occlusion of the middle cerebral artery by endovascular suture. A simplified diagram of the cranial circulatory system of the rat is hown with a silicon-coated intraluminal suture occluding the origin of the MCA. The OA and ST branches off of the left ECA have been ligated nd a suture tie around the ECA stump holds the intraluminal suture in place. ACA, anterior cerebral artery; BA, basilar artery; CCA, common arotid artery; ECA, external carotid artery; ICA, internal carotid artery; MCA, middle cerebral artery; OA, occipital artery; PCA, posterior cerebral rtery; PComA, posterior communicating artery; PPA, pterygopalatine artery; ST, superior thyroid artery. Figure adapted from Sasaki *et al.*⁴ and ee³.

(Uluc et al, 2011)





Fall latency (s) during pre-stroke Rotarod testing. Values represent mean ± SEM, n = 11. One-way ANOVA; *P<0.05 vs. days 1 and 2; *post-hoc* Tukey's test for multiple comparisons.



Time latency to finding the platform during the 10 day water maze protocol. Between the Acquisition and Retention stage rats had a 2 day break. The platform remained in the SW quadrant during Acquisition and Retention, but was moved to the NE quadrant during the Reversal stage. In this and subsequent figures, values are mean \pm SEM, n = 11. Statistical analysis: One-way ANOVA; *Post-hoc* Tukey's test for multiple comparisons. *P<0.05 vs. day 1.





Distance travelled before finding the platform during the 10 day water maze protocol. Between the Acquisition and Retention stage rats had a 2 day break. The platform remained in the SW quadrant during Acquisition and Retention, but was moved to the NE quadrant during the Reversal stage. *P<0.05 vs. day 1; ⊥P<0.05 vs. day 2.



MWM - Acquisition Probe Trial - Time

Time spent in each quadrant during Acquisition Probe Trial. Platform zone located in SW quadrant. *P<0.05 vs. NE quadrant.





MWM - Acquisition Probe Trial - Distance

Distance travelled in each quadrant during Acquisition Probe Trial. Platform zone located in SW quadrant. No statistical significance differences among the quadrants were detected.





Time spent in each quadrant during Retention Probe Trial. Platform zone located in SW quadrant. Bars indicated SEM. *P<0.05 vs. SE quadrant.





Distance travelled in each quadrant during Retention Probe Trial. Platform zone located in SW quadrant. *P<0.05 vs. SE quadrant.



Time spent in each quadrant during Reversal Probe Trial. Platform zone located in NE quadrant. No statistical significance differences among the quadrants were detected.





MWM - Reversal Probe Trial - Distance

Distance travelled in each quadrant during Reversal Probe Trial. Platform zone located in NE quadrant. No statistical significance differences among the quadrants were detected.

Figure 13

Chapter 1: Background and Literature

Prevalence, pathogenesis, and treatment of stroke

In the United States, 795,000 people suffer strokes annually, 87% of which are a direct result of cerebral artery occlusion (Mozaffarian et al, 2016). The fifth-leading cause of death in the U.S., stroke claims 130,000 lives annually. The major causes of acute stroke are large-artery atherosclerosis, small-artery occlusion, and cardioembolic infarction, with small-artery occlusion being the most common type and cardioembolic infarction accounting for the highest mortality rate (Yip P, et al 1997). Stroke is also the leading cause of disability in adults in the U.S. and worldwide (Ovbiagele et al, 2011). Of the 7 million Americans who have suffered a stroke (Roger et al, 2012), 75% experience neurocognitive impairment that significantly impacts their quality of life (Go et al, 2013). These deficits manifest as cerebral cortical impairment, such as aphasia, neglect, apraxia, anopia and restricted motor function, as well as brainstem or cerebellar dysfunction (Yip P, et al 1997).

Risk factors for stroke include hypertension, atrial fibrillation (AF), carotid atherosclerosis, diabetes, congestive heart failure, history of smoking, age (over two thirds of strokes occur in persons >65 years), and history of stroke or transient ischemic attack (TIA) (Feigin VL, et al 2014; Becattini C, et al 2018). Interestingly, AF has shown to increase the annual risk for stroke by fivefold and accounts for 15% of all strokes (Stewart S, et al 2002). Currently the only FDA approved medication for the treatment of stroke is recombinant tissue plasminogen activator (rtPA), which only works to dissolve the thrombi and restore normal blood flow. However, the therapeutic window of rtPA is less than 4.5 hours after ischemic onset and, consequently, less than 4% of stroke patients have received rtPA (Hacke W, et al 2008; Green AR., 2008).

Cascade of brain ischemia injury and cell death

The human brain requires an enormous amount of chemical energy to function. It utilizes 15-20% of the total resting O_2 consumption in adults to replenish ATP as it is consumed (Clark & Sokoloff, 1999). Consequently, the brain's high oxygen demand makes it intolerant to interruptions in oxygen delivery. Ischemia causes a cascade of neurodegeneration, primarily caused by formation of ROS species in the mitochondria and initiation of apoptosis in affected neurons (Begley & Brightman, 2003).

When O_2 delivery to the brain is interrupted, it ignites a chain of reactions that culminate in cell death (Figure 2). Firstly, when the normal supply of O_2 is not available to the mitochondria, ATP synthesis falls and the lack of O_2 causes electrons to accumulate in the respiratory chain. This buildup of electrons leads to the partial (univalent) reduction of residual oxygen, thereby generating oxyradicals. Without ATP hydrolysis to power the membrane ion transporters, the neurons cannot repolarize and Ca^{2+} accumulates inside the cell (Kimura et al., 2002). Glutamate, the principal excitatory neurotransmitter of the brain, is then released by these depolarized neurons, producing excitotoxicity which exacerbates brain injury (Hazell, 2007). Excessive neuronal glutamate release causes hyperexcitation of postsynaptic neurons by activating α -amino-3hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoazolepropionic acid (AMPA) and N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors which causes Ca^{2+} influx and intracellular Ca^{2+} accumulation (Abramov & Duchen, 2008; Prentice et al, 2015). The Ca^{2+} buildup inside the neurons activates proteases and phospholipases, which in turn degrade structural proteins and membranes (Konstady, 2012; White et al., 2000), and activates the Ca^{2+} -sensitive nitric oxide synthase (NOS) isoenzymes (Manukhina et al, 2006; Prentice et al., 2015).

Excessive NOS activity overproduces NO, which undergoes biradical condensation with superoxide ($^{\bullet}O_2^{-}$), generating the cytotoxic peroxynitrite (ONOO⁻) (Beckman & Koppenol, 1996; Ischiropoulos, 1998). ONOO⁻, in turn, recruits proapoptotic proteins Bax and Bad and incorporates them into the inner mitochondrial membrane, consequently depolarizing the membrane and disrupting ATP synthesis. These two proteins promote the intrinsic apoptotic mechanism by facilitating depolarization of the mitochondrial membrane further disrupting ATP production (Prentice et al., 2015). Bax and Bad promote cytochrome c release into the cytosol, which under normal conditions is suppressed by overexpression of Bcl-2 (Ferrer & Planas, 2003). In the extrinsic apoptosis mechanis, Fas ligand (secreted by neurons, astroglia, other leukocytes) binds to its membrane receptor and activates caspase 8 and caspase 3. These caspases cleave the Bcl family protein Bid, allowing Bid to combine with Bad, forming a mitochondrial membrane channel through which cytochrome c is released (Broughton et al., 2009). Once cytochrome c is in the cytosol, by either the intrinsic or extrinsic mechanism, it will bind with other apoptotic proteins to create an apoptosome that leads to further cell function disruption and, eventually, cell death (Mallet and Ryou, 2017).

During a stroke, the cells within the region of most intense ischemia, i.e. the core of the

ischemic territory, are the first to die via necrosis and generally cannot be saved by conventional stroke treatments (Rami et al, 2008). However, in the surrounding penumbra the ischemia is not as pronounced due to collateral supply from other blood vessels and the apoptosis-mediated cell death in this region is more gradual (Kato & Kogure, 1999; Zheng, Zhao, Steinberg, & Yenari, 2003). Thus, timely reperfusion of the penumbra, e.g. by rtPA administration, may salvage the tissue (Paciaroni et al, 2009). Moreover, since the apoptosis cascade proceeds at a measured pace there is a chance for therapeutic intervention to save these neurons subjected to the less intense ischemia of the penumbra (Maiese, 2001).

Ischemia-reperfusion injury

One of the major limitations of rtPA as a treatment for stroke is that even though reperfusion is critical to preserve the brain tissue, it unavoidably causes an ischemia-reperfusion injury in the brain due to the abrupt reintroduction of blood-borne O_2 upon revascularization of the ischemic area. The resultant intense burst of reactive oxygen species formation inflicts further damage on the cells, and activates metalloproteinases (MMPs) that degrade the blood-brain barrier (BBB).

As discussed earlier, an interruption in the oxygen supply causes a build-up of electrons in the mitochondrial respiratory complexes. When O_2 is re-introduced into these electron-rich environments it causes a massive overproduction of superoxide ($^{\circ}O_2^{-}$) in the brain (Selivanov et al., 2011; Kalogeris et al., 2014; Olmez & Ozyurt, 2012; Kimura et al, 2000). $^{\circ}O_2^{-}$ undergoes additional single-electron reductions to sequentially generate hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) and then the aggressive cytotoxic $^{\circ}OH$. $^{\circ}OH$ then undergoes biradical condensation with NO to yield $ONOO^{-}$ which targets phospholipids and proteins, and also contributes to the production of other reactive nitrogen and oxygen species (Manukhina et al., 2006). These reactive compounds modify and disable crucial enzymes such as pyruvate dehydrogenase, glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase, aconitase, and creatine kinase (Robertson et al, 2009; Eaton et al, 2002; Hausladen & Fridovich, 1994; Reddy et al, 2000). ONOO⁻ elicits membrane phospholipid peroxidation and nitrosylates tyrosyl and cysteinyl residues in proteins (Ferdinandy & Schulz, 2003; Manukhina et al., 2006).

Ischemia-reperfusion also activates MMPs such as MMP-2, -3, and -9 (Jin, Yang, & Li, 2010) found in neurons, glia, and leukocytes (Chaturvedi & Kaczmarek, 2014). MMPs are zinc

proteases which contribute to normal modeling of tissue through controlled degradation of extracellular matrix proteins, and when hyperactivated these proteases can cause brain damage and inflammation (Mallet and Ryou, 2017). The potential targets of MMPs are integral proteins of endothelial tight junctions of the BBB such as claudin, occludin, and junctional adhesion molecules (Abbott et al, 2010). Following stroke, MMPs degrade these proteins, which disrupts the BBB (Chang et al, 2014; Turner & Sharp, 2016). These actioins weaken the cerebrovascular endothelium, increasing the risk of hemorrhagic transformation (Turner & Sharp, 2016; Chaturvedi & Kaczmarek, 2014; Jickling et al, 2014) and facilitating the migration of inflammatory neutrophils into the penumbra, which together can expand the infarction (Kogure & Kogure, 1997; Vafadari et al, 2016).

Endogenous protection against ischemia

There are several endogenous proteins that serve to protect the brain against ischemia. These proteins are activated under hypoxic conditions and in turn activate neuroprotective signaling pathways that help the ischemic tissue cope with the hypoxic insults. Understanding the mechanisms, inducers and downstream effectors of these cerebroprotective cascades can foster development of innovative and novel treatments against many different ischemic diseases, such as myocardial infarction and stroke. Although some of these proteins are better understood than others, it is becoming increasingly evident that all of these ischemia-protective proteins, including those described below, influence each other and have a dynamic relationship.

Hypoxia inducible factor-1 alpha (HIF-1\alpha)

The transcription factor HIF-1 α is a master regulator of the expression of genes that orchestrate responses to hypoxia in many mammalian species (Semenza GL, 1999). From erythropoietin, the first identified product of HIF-1's gene program, the list has grown to over 100 genes whose expression are mediated by this transcription factor (Loor & Schumacker, 2008). Hypoxia Inducible Factor (HIF) is a heterodimer consisting of an α subunit and a β subunit. HIF- β is normally expressed but HIF- α is activated by hypoxia. Under normoxic conditions, HIF-1's α subunit is hydroxylated and subsequently degraded by proteasomes, thereby suppressing HIF-1-driven gene expression (Kumar and Choi, 2014). Even modest reductions in oxygen increase the stability of HIF-1 α which then combines with the constitutively expressed β subunit to form the active HIF-1 dimer (Kallio P. J., et al, 1998). This HIF-1 complex binds to the hypoxia responsive element (HRE) enhancer domain of target genes, such as erythropoietin, heme oxygenase-1, vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), and glucose transporters (GLUT-1 and GLUT-4) to induce expression (Pugh CW, et al 1997). HIF-1a also serves to upregulate glycolytic enzymes and glucose transporters to help the cell make more ATP through glycolysis (Fukuda R, et al 2007). In astrocytes, hypoxia stabilizes HIF-1 α and activates HIF-1-driven expression and release of erythropoietin, which in turn acts on erythropoietin receptors (EPOR) on nearby neurons, initiating signaling mechanisms that culminate in suppression of neuronal apoptosis (Ruscher et al., 2002).

Another inducer of HIF-1 α is the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR), a protein kinase which responds to stress by regulating angiogenesis, cell growth, apoptosis and autophagy via HIF-1 and its downstream effector VEGF (Nakamura et al., 2006; Kang et al., 2008; Gunn et al., 2008; Shackelford et al., 2009; Miyazawa et al., 2010). Rapamycin is an inhibitor of mTOR and has been shown to induce apoptosis when administered to tumor and cyst cells (Kotulska K et al., 2009; Spirli C et al., 2010). When rats were treated with rapamycin after hypoxia-ischemia injury, p-mTOR, HIF-1 α and VEGF expression were suppressed (Chen et al., 2012). The century old drug methylene blue (MB) has also been shown to activate HIF-1 α . In a cell model of oxygen and glucose deprivation (OGD)-reoxygenation, MB increased O₂ concentration in the cells, ATP content, glucose uptake, and activities of hexokinase and the antioxidant enzyme glucose 6-phosphate dehydrogenase. Interestingly, MB activated the erythropoietin signaling cascade that subsequently raised HIF-1 α expression (Ryou MG et al, 2015), demonstrating erythropoietin to be both inducer and product of HIF-1 activated gene expression.

Erythropoietin

The natural hematopoietic hormone erythropoietin (EPO) exhibits many diverse neuroprotective mechanisms capable of interrupting the brain injury cascade (Mallet & Ryou, 2017; Fig 2). Astrocytes are the major producers of erythropoietin in the brain (Swanson, Ying, & Kauppinen, 2004). Hypoxia activates HIF-1-mediated erythropoietin production in astrocytes, and erythropoietin protects neurons by interacting with its EPORs expressed on neurons, astrocytes and microglia (Brines et al., 2000; Ruscher et al., 2002).

Erythropoietin can ameliorate several diverse aspects of the injury cascade including production of reactive oxygen and nitrogen species, inflammation, BBB degradation, apoptosis,

excitotoxicity, and angiogenesis (Mallet & Ryou, 2017; Fig. 2). In mice, exogenous erythropoietin reactivated the antioxidant enzyme glutathione peroxidase after administration of the neurotoxin 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,5,6-tetrahydropyridine (Genc et al, 2002). Similarly, erythropoietin administration after bilateral carotid artery occlusion in gerbils suppressed formation of ONOO⁻ (Calapai et al., 2000). Erythropoietin exerts its anti-inflammatory protection on all brain cells that express the EPOR (Merelli et al, 2015). After MCAO in rats, EPO was shown to suppress astrocyte activation and migration of leukocytes and microglia into the infarct area, and decreased buildup of proinflammatory cytokines such as interleukin-6, TNF- α , and monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 by more than 50% (Villa et al., 2003).

Pro-apoptotic Bax, Bak, and truncated Bid form channels in the inner mitochondrial membrane and cause the release of cytochrome c. Anti-apoptotic Bcl-X_L and Bcl-2 sequester Bax and Bak to prevent formation of these channels (Broughton et al., 2009; Sims et al, 2010). EPO exerts its anti-apoptotic effects by increasing expression of Bcl-X_L and Bcl-2 and decreasing Bax, Bak, and Bid expression (Mallet & Ryou, 2017). This mechanism was demonstrated in hypoxic hippocampal neurons (Wen et al., 2002), permanently ischemic neonatal rat brains (Sola et al., 2005), and in brains of gerbils subjected to cerebrovascular occlusion (Wen et al., 2002). EPO also suppressed glutamate excitotoxicity by preventing NMDA receptor-mediated, glutamate-induced neuronal apoptosis, and by maintaining the number of synapses in the hippocampus (Sakanaka et al., 1998). In cultured primary rat astroglia, erythropoietin increased glutamate uptake by 60% and increased glutamine synthase activity, which converts glutamate to the non-excitatory molecule glutamine (Lourhmati et al., 2013). Erythropoietin's protection of the BBB was evident in a rat model of traumatic brain injury and in rats subjected to MCAO, where erythropoietin administration after trauma or MCAO minimized BBB disruption, brain edema, lesion volume, and neurobehavioral impairment (Grasso et al., 2007; Wang et al., 2015). Wang et al. 2015, also showed that erythropoietin prevented degradation of the BBB by suppressing activation of MMPs -2 and -9 (Wang et al., 2015). Activating angiogenesis is also an effector function of erythropoietin. After permanent MCAO, EPO decreased infarct volume, increase angiogenesis, and normalize local blood flow in the penumbra, while increasing synthesis of the angiogenic factors VEGF, Tie-2, and agiopoietin-2 (Li et al, 2007).

Preclinical evidence suggests EPO can be used for treatment of stroke, traumatic brain injury, intracerebral hemorrhage, neonatal hypoxia-ischemia, and even spinal cord injury (Rangarajan & Juul, 2014). In several studies utilizing the MCAO rat model of stroke, erythropoietin iv infusion or ip injection decreased infarct volume and minimized neurobehavioral deficits (Zhao et al., 2015), and increased differentiation of progenitor cells into neurons within the lesion (Gonzalez et al., 2007). EPO administration 10 min before ischemia decreased neurological deficits, brain edema, and circulating activities of neuron specific enolase, a brain injury marker (Ratilal et al., 2014). When infused directly into the reperfused MCA EPO decreased neurological deficit, infarct volume and apoptosis in the penumbra (Dang et al., 2011). Even when administered 6 hours after the ischemic period erythropoietin was able to cross the BBB and decrease the infarct volume by 50%-75% in rat MCAO models (Brines et al., 2000). Another study reports 70-75% reductions in penumbral apoptosis when EPO was administered 24 hours before, during, or 3 hours after MCA occlusion in rats (Brines, 2002). In a rat model of traumatic brain injury EPO, injected intraperitoneally on days 1, 2, and 3 post-injury, decreased cell loss in the hippocampus, increased angiogenesis and neurogenesis in the cerebral cortex and hippocampus, and improved sensorimotor function (Zhang et al, 2009). Collectively, these studies identify EPO as a likely mediator of hypoxia induced brain protection.

Nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 (Nrf2)

Nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 (Nrf2) is another transcription factor that activates expression of cerebroprotective genes, in this case, genes that encode antioxidant and anti-inflammatory proteins. Nrf2-driven gene expression increases cellular resistance to ROS and carbonyl stress, although its mechanisms are still not fully understood (Jung & Mallet, 2017). Under normal conditions, Nrf2 is held in the cytosol in an inactive form, where it is tethered to the Kelch-like ECH-associated protein 1 (KEAP1), an interaction that targets Nrf2 for rapid proteasomal degradation. During oxidative stress or under the influence of Nrf2 inducers, Nrf2 is freed from KEAP1 and translocates to the nucleus (Niture et al., 2014; Vargas et al., 2009); there, Nrf2 acting in collaboration with co-transcription factors, binds to antioxidant response element (ARE) promoter regions to activate expression of antioxidant proteins such as heme oxygenase-1 (HO-1), Nrf2 istelf, and two enzymes that catalyze the synthesis of the principal cellular antioxidant glutathione (GSH), namely, glutamate cysteine ligase (GCL) and GSH synthetase (GSH-Syn) (Niture SK et al., 2014; Vargas MR et al., 2009; Ishii T et al., 2004; Wakabayashi N et al., 2010). HO-1 defends the brain against oxidative stress during ischemia and inflammation

(Kim YM et al., 2011; Innamorato NG et al., 2008) and GSH is a major antioxidant as well as a substrate or cofactor for many enzymes cellular detoxification (Deponte M, 2013).

Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF)

BDNF is another potential mediator of neuroprotection during ischemia. Neurotrophic factors are similar to growth factors in that they promote the survival, differentiation, and function of neurons via activation of tyrosine kinase receptors A, B, and C (TrkA, TrkB, TrkC) (Smeyne RJ et al., 1994). BDNF functions as an endothelial cell survival factor (Donavan MJ et al., 2000) which stimulates angiogenesis by increasing the content of VEGF's membrane receptor in endothelial cells expressing TrkB (Kermani P et al, 2005; Kim H, et al., 2004). In neuroblastoma cells, BDNF increased production of VEGF by activating expression of HIF-1 α (Nakamura K et al., 2006). Intermittent hypoxia is known to induce VEGF's transcription factor, BDNF (Baker-Herman et al., 2004), and its activation of important neuroprotective mechanisms makes BDNF a potential target for treatment of brain ischemia, including stroke.

Intermittent hypoxia training as a potential treatment for ischemic stroke

Intermittent hypoxia training (IHT) offers a possible solution for treating ischemic stroke without the risk of inducing hemorrhage, an important limitation of rtPA. IHT has been demonstrated to induce neuroprotective mechanisms in different disease models of rats. IHT has been shown to increase cerebral blood flow, improve endothelial production of NO, and reduce oxidative stress in rats with experimental Alzheimer's Disease (Manhukhina et al, 2016). In rats experiencing ethanol withdrawal, IHT prevented behavioral deficits at 24 h EW, decreased oxyradical and protein carbonyl formation in several brain regions, and suppressed the cytotoxic signaling cascade after excess release of glutamate (Jung and Mallet, 2017). In another study assessing IHT in myocardial infarction in canines, IHT dramatically lowered myocardial infarctions and ventricular tachyarrhythmias during ischemia and reperfusion (Zong et al, 2004).

These studies lead us to hypothesize that IHT will exert neuroprotective effects in rats post-MCAO. The importance of testing the effects of IHT after stroke, however, is due to the fact that it is essentially impossible to predict when one will suffer a stroke. Thus, a practical treatment for stroke must exert its protective effects even when applied long after the onset of cerebrovascular blockage and symptoms. This is crucial because many patients do not realize they have suffered a stroke until several hours after the fact, due to the subtlety of their initial symptoms. Therefore, IHT could potentially provide a non-invasive, painless treatment for coping with ischemic injury, even when administered after the ischemic insult.

The Body's Physiological Response to Hypoxia

The physiological effects of intermittent hypoxia on the cardiopulmonary system depend on several factors: the intensity of hypoxia, duration of each hypoxic exposure and the intervening reoxygenation periods, total duration of the IH application, and the presence of concomitant stumuli during the cyclic hypoxia sessions (eg, exercise, hypo- or hypercapnia) (Faulhaber et al, 2010 and 2015). The human body's natural response to hypoxia is a chemoreflex-mediated increase in sympathetic nerve activity (SNA) that is directly related to the duration of hypoxia and the magnitude of O₂ desaturation. This increase in SNA leads to an increase in systemic arterial pressure, which can exceed 50 mmHg or more during severe hypoxia, and which subsequently returns to baseline after normoxic ventilation resumes (Serebrovskaya et al, 2008). The heart rate response varies; voluntary breathing of hypoxic gas increases heart rate due to vagal withdrawal (Lucy et al, 2000; Bernardi et al, 2001; Buchheit et al, 2004), whereas prolonged apneas causes increased vagal activation and bradycardia (Goksor et al, 2002). This chemoreflex is also known to increase cerebral blood flow in order to maintain adequate oxygen delivery to the brain (Young et al, 1997). However, hypoxia also increases ventilation via the peripheral cheoreceptor reflex which produces acute hypocapnia (Fletcher et al, 1997) and a respiratory alkalosis (Young et al, 1997). Since CO₂ stimulates cerebral vasodilation, acute hypocapnia can cause cerebral vasoconstriction that will counteract the hypoxia-increased cerebrovascular conductance (Serebrovskaya et al, 2008). This dynamic relationship between hypocapnia and hypoxemia may explain the conflicting reports that cerebral blood flow during acute, variable bouts of hypoxia remains constant (Lavie et al, 2000), decreased (Parish et al, 2004), or increased (Leuenberger et al, 2005).

Chronic vs Therapeutic Hypoxia and Blood Pressure

One of the most prevalent causes of clinical hypoxia is obstructive sleep apnea (OSA), characterized by recurrent episodes of arterial hypoxia and hypercapnia due to brief asphyxiation from airway collapse while sleeping (Serebrovskaya et al, 2008). These episodes can occur 30-60

times an hour, a rate associated with significant cardiovascular morbidity and mortality (Marin et al., 2005). This chronic intermittent hypoxia puts patients at risk of stroke and coronary artery disease, but most notably results in chronically elevated blood pressure that persists after apneic stimulation (Shepard JW Jr. et al, 1985; White SG et al, 1995). In contrast, therapeutic intermittent hypoxia, i.e. IHT, has been shown to decrease blood pressure in hypertensive patients and is not associated with the detrimental effects of OSA (Lyamina et al, 2011). These striking differences are due to the fact that while OSA includes short but frequent episodes of hypoxia, therapeutic intermittent hypoxia training consists of longer hypoxia phases (3-6 min) alternated with room air exposure for a limited number of daily cycles over a period of several days to weeks.

In rats, a chronic intermittent hypoxia program that mimicked the conditions seen in sleep apnea patients increased mean arterial pressure by 10-14 mmHg compared to a sham control group, and this elevated blood pressure persisted for several weeks (Fletcher et al, 1995; 1996, 2000; 2001). In contrast, in human subjects a therapeutic intermittent hypoxia session consisting of 5 bouts of 6-min ventilation of 10% O_2 interspersed with 4 min of room air ventilation did not significantly increase blood pressure or mean arterial pressure, as shown in the figures below (Liu et al., 2017). Another study assessed heart rate and blood pressure during a 3-week intermittent hypoxia program in COPD patients showed that during the hypoxic phases blood pressure was not affected appreciably, but heart rate increased significantly, to an extent dependent on the intensity of hypoxia (Faulhaber et al, 2015). Lyamina et al. showed that IHT lowered blood pressure in patients with stage 1 arterial hypertension by increasing nitric oxide production. In this study, after 37 participants completed a 20-day program consisting of alternating 3 min episodes of 10% O_2 and room air for 4-10 daily cycles, all hypertensive participants experienced a 15 – 27% reduction in blood pressure, and 85% of the formerly hypertensive participants remained normotensive without medications 3 months later (Lyamina et al, 2011).

Sex Differences to Hypoxia

While the impact of sex on the effects of therapeutic intermittent hypoxia require more investigation, chronic intermittent hypoxia, such as obstructive sleep apnea (OSA), has a higher prevalence in men compared to women (Bixler et al., 2001; Franklin and Lindberg, 2015; Mokhlesi et al., 2016; Valipour, 2012; Young et al., 1993). The prevalence of OSA is higher in men than in premenoupausal women, with a ratio of 2:1 to 3:1, while OSA incidence increases 3-4 fold in

women postmenopausal vs. premenopausal (Bixler et al., 2001; Redline et al., 1994, Young et al., 2003). In regards to this disparity, sex hormones such as progesterone and estradiol are thought to be the mediators in the oxidative stress protection that chronic hypoxia induces (Boukari et al., 2017). This idea is supported by the increased incidence of OSA in postmenopausal women, vs. the reduced prevalence of OSA in post-menopausal women receiving hormone replacement therapy (Bixler et al., 2001). Estradiol and progesterone are well known antioxidants that exert their effects by regulating the activity of NADPH oxidase, increasing mitochondrial respiration and reducing ROS production, and increasing the activities of superoxide dismutates and glutathione peroxidase (Borras et al., 2010; Moorthy et al., 2005; Pajovic and Saicic, 2008). Due to their inherent protection against oxidative stress, it is likely that premenopausal females will be able tolerate ischemic preconditioning and the therapeutic benefits may be more pronounced in females vs. males. In that case, hormone replacement therapy may enhance the beneficial effects of IHT in postmenopausal women.

Chapter 2: Research Project

I. Specific Aims

This study aims to assess the effects of IHT on motor function and spatial memory of rats when administered after MCAO and cerebrovascular reperfusion in rats. We hypothesize that rats given IHT after stroke will 1) show a decrease in motor dysfunction and spatial memory deficits compared to rats receiving no post-stroke hypoxia treatment and 2) have an increased expression of specific neuroprotective peptides such as Erythropoietin, Nrf2, and BDNF. The findings of this study may demonstrate that IHT is an effective, non-invasive treatment that preserves brain tissue after initiation of the injury cascade due to ischemic events.

II. Significance and Innovation

Stroke is the leading cause of disability in adults worldwide and in the U.S. it is the fifthleading cause of death (Ovbiagele et al, 2011). Around 800,000 Americans suffer from strokes annually (Mozaffarian et al, 2016), and of the 7 million Americans who have suffered a stroke (Roger et al, 2012), 75% live with mental deficits that significantly impair their quality of life (Go et al, 2013). These deficits manifest as cerebral cortical impairment, such as aphasia, neglect, apraxia, anopia and restricted motor function, as well as brainstem or cerebellar dysfunction (Yip et al, 1997) Currently the only FDA approved medication for the treatment of stroke is recombinant tissue plasminogen activator (rtPA), an anti-thrombotic agent which dissolves intravascular thrombi in order to restore normal blood flow to the ischemic territory. However, the therapeutic window of rtPA is less than 4.5 hours after ischemic onset; consequently, less than 4% of stroke patients have received rtPA (Hacke W, et al 2008; Green AR., 2008). Moreover, rtPA treatment carries a risk of intracerebral hemorrhage, which can be lethal.

IHT offers a possible solution for treating ischemic stroke without the risk of inducing hemorrhage. In previous studies, IHT has shown to induce neuroprotective mechanisms in different disease models of rats by inducing expression of antioxidant species and upregulating expression and activity of a host of neuroprotective peptides. IHT has been shown to improve cerebral blood flow, improve endothelial production of NO, and reduce oxidative stress in rats with experimental Alzheimer's Disease (Manhukhina et al, 2016). In rats experiencing EW, IHT prevented behavioral deficits at 24 h EW, decreased oxyradical and protein carbonyl formation in several brain major brain areas, and suppressed the cytotoxic signaling cascade after excess release of glutamate (Jung and Mallet, 2017). In canines subjected to coronary artery occlusion-reperfusion, IHT almost completely prevented myocardial infarctions and reperfusion ventricular tachyarrhythmias (Zong et al, 2004).

These studies lead us to hypothesize that IHT will exert neuroprotective effects in rats post-MCAO. The importance of testing the effects of IHT after stroke, however, is due to the fact that strokes are generally unpredictable, so IHT before stroke is not feasible. Thus, stroke treatments must be able to exert their effects after the onset of cerebrovascular blockage and symptoms. This is crucial because many patients do not realize they are having a stroke until several hours after the onset, due to the subtlety of their initial symptoms. Therefore, the possibility that IHT could provide a non-invasive, painless treatment for coping with ischemic injury, even when administered after the ischemic insult, merits investigation.

III. Materials and Methods

Animals

All animal use in this investigation was approved by the UNTHSC animal care and use committee (protocols # 2014 15-14-AOS and IACUC-2017-0055) and was conducted according to the Guide to the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals (U.S. National Research Council publication 85-23, revised 2011). 24 Sprague-Dawley rats were used in this study. All of them completed neurobehavioral and spatial memory tests to establish their pre-stroke cognitive and motor function baselines. Two groups of rats then underwent MCAO; one group received IHT and a control group underwent stroke without receiving IHT. A third group underwent a sham surgery procedure and sham hypoxia conditioning to control for the effects of anesthesia, surgical trauma and other factors aside from ischemia-reperfusion. Rats will be sacrificed humanely and in accordance with the IACUC protocol.

Neurobehavioral and memory testing

The Rotarod tests utilized the AccuRotor 4-Channel RotaRod. The Morris Water Maze (MWM) apparatus consists of a large pool filled with water which is made opaque by dyeing it blue with powdered tempera paint. A small camera was installed above the pool to track animal movements. Data from the camera was compared on a desktop computer equipped with ANY-maze software.

The Rotarod test

The Rotarod test assesses motor coordination, strength, and stamina in rodents (Scholz et al). We used this test to establish a baseline of motor function before stroke and to detect differences in motor function among treatment groups after stroke. The rats are placed on a rotating drum that gradually accelerates at a constant rate until the rat cannot keep up and falls down below into a plastic rectangular enclosure. The fall is high enough to cause slight pain without injury, and this positive punishment encourages the rats to stay on the cylinder for as long as possible. The floor of the machine acts as a lever which stops the timer when the rat lands on it, accurately recording fall latency. Healthy rats typically learn this test within 1-2 days and perform better over the first few days before reaching their inherent baseline as indicated in our pre-stroke rotarod data

(Shiotsuki et al; Figure 5). It is anticipated that stroke will adversely impact motor function and the rats are expected to have a difficult time staying on the cylinder, and maintaining balance and coordination.

Rotarod testing was done for 10 days, 3 trials per day with 20 minutes of rest between trials. The rotating drum accelerated at a constant rate (3 rpm/s) to 720 rpm over the course of 240 seconds, thereby gradually increasing the difficulty in order to accurately assess the rat's capabilities. If a rat falls within the first 15 seconds, usually this is due to improper placement or bad footing on the cylinder, they must repeat the trial. Some rats appeared to intentionally jump off, but this occurred beyond the 15 sec mark and the results of those tests were included in the data set. The jumping behavior was random amongst the rats and did not affect the overall baseline. Preliminary data is shown below (Figure 5).

Morris Water Maze

The MWM assesses spatial learning and memory. An important strength of this test is its relative immunity to motivational differences across a range of experimental treatment effects (genetic, pharmacological, nutritional, toxicological and lesion) that are secondary to the main focus of the experiment. For example, lesions that induce hyperactivity or treatments that cause hypoactivity can both be dissociated from learning deficits in the MWM. This is because land-based locomotor reductions do not affect swimming speed, therefore learning impairments are independent of locomotor effects (Vorhees and Williams, 2006). Thus, the MWM is appropriate for this study because it enables spatial learning and memory deficits to be differentiated before and after stroke.

Despite its name, the MWM is not a labyrinth, but rather an open, circular pool of water with a platform submerged just under the water surface. We used powdered paint to turn the water dark blue in order to obscure the platform from the swimming animal's sight. The goal of the MWM is for the animal navigate the pool and locate the platform within the allotted time. The pool is divided into four quadrants with the axes representing the four cardinal points: North (N), South (S), East (E), West (W). The platform is positioned in the middle of one of the quadrants. This is perhaps the most important detail of the MWM that the animals must learn. Instead of following the walls of the pool for a way out, they must remember that the platform is in the interior of the pool and navigate accordingly. The rats are randomly placed in one of the 3 quadrants that do not contain the platform. The animals are given three trials each day and have 90 seconds to reach the platform before they are placed on the platform to re-orient themselves and then "rescued" from the maze. A camera positioned above the maze tracks and records the animal's movements through during the trial, assessing the path taken, swimming speed, time spent in each quadrant, and then the trial data is analyzed by the computer program ANY-Maze.

There were 4 different types of trials used during the two week MWM testing. The first is spatial acquisition, where the animals use visual cues in the room outside of the pool and memory from previous trials to find the platform. Probe trials assess the strength of the animals' memory of the platform position. In a probe trial the platform is sunk so that even when the animals swim over the appropriate area they cannot stand up – the trial is considered successful if the animal swims over the platform in under 30 seconds. Reversal trials assess the persistence of learned behavior and ability to adapt. In these trials the platform is moved to the opposite quadrant; the animals usually will start looking in the old quadrant first before proceeding to search the other quadrants. Usually over the next few trials the animals will spend less time in the old quadrant and more time finding the platform in the new quadrant.

It is our expectation that stroked rats will have a considerably more difficult time learning the MWM and navigating the maze through the various trials than non-stroked control rats. Thigomotactic swimming is expected as well – swimming in one direction, following the edge of the pool (Bingham et al, 2012). Swimming speed is not expected to be affected by the stroke.

Middle Cerebral Artery Occlusion

The middle cerebral artery (MCA) is the artery most commonly affected in stroke syndromes in humans. Due to the similarity in cranial circulation between rats and humans the MCA occlusion method in rats mimics the clinical syndrome. The MCA has no collateral blood supply, making it an ideal target for producing an infarct. In the rat, the MCA supplies the frontal, sensorimotor, auditory and occipital cortices and striatum. Blood supply to the hippocampus however is not derived from the MCA. The goal of the MCAO procedure is to create ischemic conditions in the brain to produce an ischemic territory that is similar in size and severity for all rats undergoing the procedure. To accomplish MCAO, a silicone-coated nylon monofilament is advanced into the internal carotid artery to block the MCA for a specified duration, and then

removed to allow reperfusion -mimicking stroke and thrombolysis in humans. The MCAO procedure was performed as previously described (Uluc et al, 2011) using sterilized surgical instruments and technique, and is summarized as follows.

Rats will be anesthetized with isoflurane, and the throat and neck shaved and prepped for a septic surgery with betadine and alcohol. An incision is made at the midline from the base of the neck down to the upper margin of the collar bone. The neck tissue is dissected until the left common carotid artery (CCA) is isolated up to the bifurcation point of the internal carotid artery (ICA) and external carotid artery (ECA). First the CCA is ligated with a temporary suture. The ECA is then permanently ligated as distally as possible to the bifurcation. Then, the occipital artery (OA) and the superior thyroid artery (STA), two branches off of the ECA close to the bifurcation, are cauterized. Next, the ICA is clamped with an atraumatic clip, and a small incision of the ECA is made between the distal ligation and the bifurcation point. The silicone coated filament is then inserted into the incision and advanced into the CCA. After the filament is secure in the vessel another suture is placed around the ECA and filament, to provide leverage while manipulating the filament. The ECA is then transected, just proximal to the permanent suture on the ECA and distal to the filament insertion point. With the ECA now separated from the cervical tissue it can be pulled down to create a straight path for advancing the filament into the ICA. Once the filament is in the ICA the vasoclamp is removed and the filament is carefully advanced approximately 2 cm, so that it covers the origin of the MCA. Once the filament has been advanced it is then firmly secured to keep it in place for 90 min. After the allotted time the filament is removed and the rat is allowed to recover. Signs of stroke should be apparent after the rat regains consciousness. Figure 2 (above) diagrams the vasculature and filament insertion point.

Intermittent hypoxia training regimen

24 hours after stroke, the rats designated for IHT will be placed in a special chamber that controls the inspired O_2 fraction, i.e. FIO₂, to which the rats are exposed. The rats will breathe low oxygen gas (10% O_2) for 5-8 brief periods each lasting 5-10 minutes, with intervening 4 min exposures to room air, each session lasting 4-9 min, for 20 consecutive days. These rats will be compared to a sham group of rats exposed to normoxic air (21% O_2).

Experiment Timeline

An overview of the experiment schedule is shown in figure X. Rats were trained in Rotarod and MWM before stroke. The rats underwent Rotarod training for 5 consecutive days with 3 trials per day and then given 2 days rest, followed by MWM. MWM consisted of 5 consecutive days of training in the Acquisition stage, with 3 trials per day, followed by 2 days rest and then a second 5 days of MWM consisting of two days of Retention and 3 days of Reversal. Two weeks after completion of neurobehavioral testing MCAO or sham surgeries were performed on all rats. 24 h post-MCAO rats commenced either hypoxia or sham conditioning treatments daily for 20 days. 7 days post-MCAO rats underwent post-stroke neurobehavioral testing, with the same schedule as before MCAO. 24 h after the final MWM trial the rats were sacrificed. This schedule was staggered by 2 weeks between two groups of 12 rats (figure 4).

Data Analysis

When comparing post-stroke recovery in the non-IHT vs. IHT rats at different time points we will utilize a single-factor ANOVA, where the independent factor could be time, infarct size, or performance in the neurobehavioral tests. A *post-hoc* Tukey's test will be applied when anova reveals the presence of statistically significant findings.

Limitations of the MCAO model

The MCAO protocol closely mimics in rodents clinical stroke syndromes due to the fact that the MCA is the most commonly affected vessel in humans. However, this protocol does not account for the high variability in severity between stroke cases. Some patients may experience brief durations of ischemia or long durations, they may experience partial instead of complete occlusion, and many stroke patients have other pre-existing medical problems that impact the severity, progression and outcome of a stroke. Additionally, because of its invasive nature, surgical trauma to the neck tissue and blood vessels during MCAO could possibly worsen symptoms of stroke, beyond that produced by a thrombus or other endogenous blockage.

IV. Results

Rotarod Test

Pre-stroke rotarod data (figure 5) showed a training effect, manifest as an increase in fall latency across the 5 days of training. Although post-stroke rotarod data has not yet been collected for all rats, we expect that stroked rats will show decreased fall latency across the 5 days with minimal day to day improvement.

Morris Water Maze Performance

Pre-stroke water maze data (Figures 6-13) shows a collective trend of decreased time needed to find the platform and distance travelled over the course of the 10 days of training. Between days 5 and 6, the end of the Acquisition stage and beginning of the Retention stage, the rats rested 2 days, which challenged the rats' memory regarding how the test works and where to find the platform. Memory appeared to be retained due to the decrease in time from day 5 to day 6. During the Acquisition stage the distance travelled for the rats considerably decreased over the first 5 days and remained relatively low throughout the remainder of the training. Even during the Reversal stage, the rats showed adaptation in learning the new location of the platform as evident by a decreasing trend in distance travelled.

The pre-stroke probe trials show how much time the rats spent in each quadrant and distance travelled in each quadrant. For the probe trials, the quadrant the rats spent the most time in was the quadrant in which they started, and the quadrant they spent the second most time in was the quadrant containing the platform. During the Reversal stage the platform was moved from the SW to the NE quadrant. During the Reversal probe trial, rats spent the most time in the SW quadrant and also travelled the most distance in the SW quadrant. This outcome shows that the strength of their memory of the platform location persisted even after being trained on a new platform location.

Although post-stroke water maze data currently is being collected, we expect that stroked rats will have a much more difficult time finding the platform and memorizing its location from day to day. We also predict that stroked rats will have a decreased ability to adapt when the platform's location is changed in the Reversal stage.

MCAO mortality rate and stroke signs

Due to the highly invasive nature of the MCAO surgery some mortality due to the procedure is expected. The mortality rate during these surgeries was much higher than expected 54.17% (13 deaths out of 24 surgeries). Six of these rats died at least 1 h after reperfusion, two rats died before the end of the 90 min MCAO, three rats died within 24 h after MCAO, and one rat died during the procedure due to a hemorrhage. These deaths may be due to internal hemorrhaging in the brain from filament insertion, although it is possible that the procedure produced a massive stroke that caused death. Although strokes can cause death in humans, rats undergoing MCAO are expected to have a much higher survival rate. The cause of our low survival rate is most likely due to initial inexperience in performing this complex procedure.

Rats subjected to MCAO all showed stroke signs immediately after recovery from anesthesia. This manifested as one or more of the following: facial droop, weak grip with one arm, turning in only one direction, and tail curl to one side. These symptoms persisted for several days, yet in some rats the stroke signs disappeared completely. This recovery could be due to the robust nature of Sprague-Dawley rats or an indication that the MCAO surgery did not produce an effective stroke. Assessment of infarct size by tissue staining and biochemical analysis is needed to ascertain why these stroke signs subsided.

Biochemical Analysis

Biochemical data has not been collected because the experiment is currently in progress. However, we will be measuring contents of EPO, Nrf2, and BDNF in rat cortex, sub cortex, hippocampus, and cerebellum.

V. Discussion

The goal of this project was to determine the efficacy of IHT in protecting the brain and reducing the behavioral deficits following stroke in rats. However, because our study is still in progress we are not yet able to draw conclusions about the effects of therapeutic hypoxia intervention during the injury cascade following ischemia.

During pre-stroke neurobehavioral training the rats demonstrated a learning curve was seen in both the Rotarod and MWM tests. During the first two days of Rotarod, a significant increase in fall latency was observed as the rats learned to stay on the cylinder (figure 5). For the rats to perform better each day their balance and coordination had to improve in order to keep up with the constant acceleration. We expect that this kind of improvement will not be seen poststroke, especially if one side of the body is significantly weaker than the other. By the end of the 5 days training, fall latency plateaued at 60-65 s, establishing a baseline for the rats' inherent motor function.

A similar progressive improvement was seen in the pre-stroke MWM. During the acquisition stage a significant drop in time and distance travelled was observed over the 5 days (Figures 6, 7). This improvement indicates that as the rats learned 1) the platform is beneath the water, 2) always in the same spot, and 3) located in the interior of the pool, their memory persisted over the course of the MWM trials. The retention stage tested the rats' memory after 2 d of rest and the results demonstrated memory retention. The reversal stage challenged the rats to learn a new platform position while assessing the strength of their memory of the first location. Progressive learning during the reversal stage was indicated by decreasing time and distance travelled for days 8-10. The probe trials test the searching prioritization when the platform is fully immersed, so that rats cannot rest on it, during a 30 s trail, indicating the strength of the learning (figures 8-13). During probe trials the rats spent the most time in the quadrant they started in and the second most time in the quadrant containing the platform, meaning the rats had knowledge of where to look for the platform even after starting in a random location. The reversal probe trials also showed that even while learning the new platform location the rats still spent the most time and travelled the most distance in the quadrant where the platform was originally located. We expect that after a stroke rats will require more time and travel greater distances during all MWM stages, but more importantly we expect that memory consolidation will be impaired, especially during the reversal stage.

VI. Summary and Conclusions

In this experiment we investigated the neuroprotective effects of IHT when initiated 24 h after 90 min MCAO in rats. Neurobehavioral function was evaluated by the Rotarod test, which tests motor function and coordination, and by the MWM, which assesses spatial memory and learning. The neurobehavioral baselines have been recorded for all rats, and post-stroke

neurobehavioral testing is in process. As such, we cannot yet draw firm conclusions about the efficacy of IHT to promote recovery from ischemic stroke.

During this past year I was able to learn and practice many of the essential skills needed in research, but more than that I came to understand that good research requires strategy, patience, and diligence. Before starting on this project I had no research experience. I quickly became familiar with learning how to navigate the peer-reviewed literature and how to find articles pertinent to my project, a skill that has become an important factor to my growth as a scientist. To execute this experiment successfully I had to carefully plan out every detail and organize my schedule efficiently. The training I received from the experts in neurobehavioral testing and rodent surgeries had to be coordinated around their schedule's availability, my class schedule, and the experiment timeline. Additionally, all practice surgeries had to be planned in advance with the goal to reach the level of proficiency needed to conduct all the surgeries on my own successfully. Strategizing how to best achieve our goals was challenging, but this long-term thinking made me appreciate just how much work goes into experimental design and why it is so necessary to finalize these details before the experiment begins. I also had to learn patience during this experience because we could not begin the experiment until I became proficient in all of the procedures being implemented in this study. Learning how to perform the Rotarod and MWM tests, conduct the MCAO surgery, acquire and analyze data with the ANY-Maze and GraphPad Prism programs, and collecting tissue for analysis were skills that took a considerable amount of time to learn and refine. However, preparing for the experiment was time and effort well spent. Despite the IHT phase of the study beginning later than originally anticipated, it has been progressing and I am excited to see the results at its conclusion.

In addition to learning how to conduct a research study, I have learned how to analyze and present scientific data in a coherent way. By preparing my research proposal and this Final Report I have had a taste of the hard work that goes into writing a peer-reviewed article or research manuscript. It has truly made me further appreciate the dedicated scientists and their novel discoveries, with the ultimate goal of treating disease more effectively and promoting health. Following my first year in the Medical Sciences program this research experience has truly elevated my knowledge of physiological concepts from a theoretical to a practical understanding and will serve to give me a better perspective on medicine as I continue my journey towards medical school.

VII. References

- 1. Abbott, N. J., Patabendige, A. A., Dolman, D. E., Yusof, S. R., & Begley, D. J. (2010). Struc- ture and function of the blood-brain barrier. Neurobiology of Disease, 37, 13–25.
- Abramov, A. Y., & Duchen, M. R. (2008). Mechanisms underlying the loss of mitochondrial membrane potential in glutamate excitotoxicity. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta, 1777, 953–964.
- Alfieri, A., Srivastava, S., Siow, R.C., Cash, D., Modo, M., Duchen, M.R., Fraser, P.A., Williams, S.C., Mann, G.E., 2013. Sulforaphane preconditioning of the Nrf2/HO-1 defense pathway protects the cerebral vasculature against blood-brain barrier dis- ruption and neurological deficits in stroke. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 65, 1012–1022.
- 4. Becattini C, Dentali F, Camporese G, Sembolini A, Rancan E, Tonello C, Manina G, Padayattil S, Agnelli G. Carotid atherosclerosis and risk for ischemic stroke in patients with atrial fibrillation on oral anticoagulant treatment. Atherosclerosis 2018; Volume 271:177-181.
- 5. Beckman, J. S., & Koppenol, W. H. (1996). Nitric oxide, superoxide, and peroxynitrite: The good, the bad, and the ugly. American Journal of Physiology. Cell Physiology, 271, C1424–C1437.
- 6. Bernardi L, Passino C, Serebrovskaya Z, Serebrovskaya T, Appenzeller O. Respiratory and cardiovascular adaptations to progressive hypoxia; effect of interval hypoxic training. Eur Heart J 22:879-886, 2001.
- Bingham D, Martin SJ, Macrae IM, Carswell HV. Watermaze performance after middle cerebral artery occlusion in the rat: the role of sensorimotor versus memory impairments. J Cereb Blood Flow Metabol. 2012;32(6):989–999.
- Bixler, E.O., Vgontzas, A.N., Lin, H.M., Ten Have, T., Rein, J., Vela-Bueno, A., Kales, A., 2001. Prevalence of sleep-disordered breathing in women: effects of gender. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 163, 608–613.
- 9. Borras, C., Gambini, J., Lopez-Grueso, R., Pallardo, F.V., Vina, J., 2010. Direct antioxidant and protective effect of estradiol on isolated mitochondria. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1802, 205–211.
- 10. Boukari, R., Laouafa, S., Ribon-Demars, A., Bairam, A., Joseph, V., 2017. Ovarian steroids act as respiratory stimulant and antioxidant against the causes and consequences of sleep-apnea in women. Respir. Physiol. Neurobiol. 239, 46–54.
- 11. Bouvier E, Brouillard F, Molet J, Claverie D, Cabungcal JH, Cresto N, Doligez N, Rivat C, Do KQ, Bernard C, Benoliel JJ, Becker C. Nrf2-dependent persistent oxidative stress results in stress-induced vulnerability to depression. Mol Psychiatry 2017;22:1701-1713.
- 12. Brines, M. (2002). What evidence supports use of erythropoietin as a novel neurotherapeutic? Oncology, 16, 79–89.
- Brines, M. L., Ghezzi, P., Keenan, S., Agnello, D., de Lanerolle, N. C., Cerami, C., et al. (2000). Erythropoietin crosses the blood-brain barrier to protect against experimental brain injury. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 97, 10526–10531.
- 14. Broughton, B. R., Reutens, D. C., & Sobey, C. G. (2009). Apoptotic mechanisms after cere- bral ischemia. Stroke, 40, e331–e339.

- 15. Buchheit M, Richard R, Doutreleau S, Lonsdorfer-Wolf E, Brandenberger G, Simon C. Effect of acute hypoxia on heart rate variability at rest and during exercise. Int J Sports Med 25:264-269, 2004.
- Calapai, G., Marciano, M. C., Corica, F., Allegra, A., Parisi, A., Frisina, N., et al. (2000). Erythropoietin protects against brain ischemic injury by inhibition of nitric oxide formation. European Journal of Pharmacology, 401, 349–356.
- Chang, J. J., Emanuel, B. A., Mack, W. J., Tsivgoulis, G., & Alexandrov, A. V. (2014). Matrix metalloproteinase-9: Dual role and temporal profile in intracerebral hemorrhage. Journal of Stroke and Cerebrovascular Diseases, 23, 2498–2505.
- 18. Chaturvedi, M., & Kaczmarek, L. (2014). Mmp-9 inhibition: A therapeutic strategy in ische- mic stroke. Molecular Neurobiology, 49, 563–573.
- 19. Chen H, Xiong T, Qu Y, Zhao F, Ferriero D, Mu D. mTOR activates hypoxia-inducible factor-1α and inhibits neuronal apoptosis in the developing rat brain during the early phase after hypoxia-ischemia. Neurosci Lett 2012;507:118-123.
- 20. Dang, S., Liu, X., Fu, P., Gong, W., Yan, F., Han, P., et al. (2011). Neuroprotection by local intra-arterial infusion of erythropoietin after focal cerebral ischemia in rats. Neurological Research, 33, 520–528.
- 21. Deponte M (2013) Glutathione catalysis and the reaction mechanisms of glutathionedependent enzymes. Biochim Bio- phys Acta 1830:3217–3266
- 22. Donavan MJ, Lin MI, Wiegn P, et al. Brain derived neorotrophic factor is an endothelial cell survival factor required for intamyocardial vessel stabilization. Devel- opment 2000;127:4531–40.
- 23. Dringen, R., Brandmann, M., Hohnholt, M.C., Blumrich, E.-M., 2015. Glutathione-dependent detoxification processes in astrocytes. Neurochem. Res. 40, 561–571.
- Eaton, P., Wright, N., Hearse, D. J., & Shattock, M. J. (2002). Glyceraldehyde phosphate dehydrogenase oxidation during cardiac ischemia and reperfusion. Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology, 34, 1549–1560.
- 25. Faulhaber M, Gatterer H, Haider T, Linser T, Netzer N, Burtscher M. Heart rate and blood pressure responses during hypoxic cycles of a 3-week intermittent hypoxia breathing program in patients at risk for or with mild COPD. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis 2015;10:339-45.
- 26. Feigin VL, Forouzanfar MH, Krishnamurthi R, Mensah GA, Connor M, Bennett DA, Moran AE, Sacco RL, Anderson L, Truelsen T, O'Donnell M, Venketasubramanian N, Barker-Collo S, Lawes CM, Wang W, Shinohara Y, Witt E, Ezzati M, Naghavi M, Murray C (2014). "Global and regional burden of stroke during 1990-2010: findings from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010". Lancet. 383 (9913): 245–54.
- Ferdinandy, P., & Schulz, R. (2003). Nitric oxide, superoxide and peroxynitrite in myocardial ischemia-reperfusion injury and preconditioning. British Journal of Pharmacology, 138, 532–543.
- Ferrer, I., & Planas, A. M. (2003). Signaling of cell death and cell survival following focal cerebral ischemia: Life and death struggle in the penumbra. Journal of Neuropathology and Experimental Neurology, 62, 329–339.
- 29. Fletcher EC, Bao G, Li R. Renin activity and blood pressure in response to chronic episodic hypoxia. Hypertension 34:309-314, 1999.
- 30. Fletcher EC, Bao G. The rat as a model of chronic recurrent episodic hypoxia and effect upon systemic blood pressure. Sleep 19:S210-212, 1996.

- 31. Fletcher EC. An animal model of the relationship between systemic hypertension and repetitive episodic hypoxia as seen in sleep apnoea. J Sleep Res 4:71-77, 1995
- 32. Fletcher EC. Effect of episodic hypoxia on sympathetic activity and blood pressure. Respir Physiol 119:189-197, 2000.
- 33. Fletcher Ec. Physiological consequences of intermittent hypoxia: systemic blood pressure. J Appl Physiol 90:1600-1605, 2001.
- 34. Franklin, K.A., Lindberg, E., 2015. Obstructive sleep apnea is a common disorder in the population-a review on the epidemiology of sleep apnea. J. Thorac Dis. 7, 1311–1322.
- 35. Fukuda R., H. Zhang, J. W. Kim, L. Shimoda, C. V. Dang, and G. Semenza, "HIF-1 regulates cytochrome oxidase subunits to optimize e ciency of respiration in hypoxic cells," Cell, vol. 129, no. 1, pp. 111–122, 2007.
- 36. G. L. Semenza, "Regulation of mammalian O₂ homeostasis by hypoxia-inducible factor 1," Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology, vol. 15, pp. 551–578, 1999.
- 37. Genc, S., Akhisaroglu, M., Kuralay, F., & Genc, K. (2002). Erythropoietin restores glutathi- one peroxidase activity in 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,5,6-tetrahydropyridine-induced neu- rotoxicity in C57BL mice and stimulates murine astroglial glutathione peroxidase production in vitro. Neuroscience Letters, 321, 73–76.
- Go, A. S., Mozaffarian, D., Roger, V. L., & American Heart Association Statistics Commit- tee and Stroke Statistics Subcommittee. (2013). Heart disease and stroke statistics—2013 update. Circulation, 127, e6–e245.
- 39. Goksor E, Rosengren L, Wennergren G. Bradycardic response during submersion in infant swimming. Acta Paediatr 91:307-312, 2002.
- Gonzalez, F. F., McQuillen, P., Mu, D., Chang, Y., Wendland, M., Vexler, Z., et al. (2007). Erythropoietin enhances long-term neuroprotection and neurogenesis in neonatal stroke. Developmental Neuroscience, 29, 321–330.
- 41. Grasso, G., Sfacteria, A., Meli, F., Fodale, V., Buemi, M., & Iacopino, D. G. (2007). Neuroprotection by erythropoietin administration after experimental traumatic brain injury. Brain Research, 1182, 99–105.
- 42. Green AR. Pharmacological approaches to acute ischaemic stroke: reperfusion certainly, neuroprotection possibly. British journal of pharmacology. 2008; 153(Suppl 1):S325–338. [PubMed: 18059324]
- 43. Gunn RM, Hailes HC. Insights into the PI3-K-PKB-mTOR signalling pathway from small molecules. J Chem Biol. 2008; 1(1–4):49–62. [PubMed: 19568798]
- 44. Hacke W, et al. Thrombolysis with alteplase 3 to 4.5 hours after acute ischemic stroke. N Engl J Med. 2008; 359:1317–1329. [PubMed: 18815396]
- 45. Hausladen, A., & Fridovich, I. (1994). Superoxide and peroxynitrite inactivate aconitases, but nitric oxide does not. The Journal of Biological Chemistry, 269, 29405–29408.
- 46. Hazell, A. S. (2007). Excitotoxic mechanisms in stroke: An update of concepts and treatment strategies. Neurochemistry International, 50, 941–953.
- 47. Innamorato, N. G.; Rojo, A. I.; Garcia-Yague, A. J.; Yamamoto, M.; de Ceballos, M. L.; Cuadrado, A. The transcription factor Nrf2 is a therapeutic target against brain inflammation. J. Immunol. 181:680–689; 2008.
- Ischiropoulos, H. (1998). Biological tyrosine nitration: A pathophysiological function of nit-ric oxide and reactive oxygen species. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics, 356, 1–11.

- 49. Ishii, T.; Itoh, K.; Ruiz, E.; Leake, D. S.; Unoki, H.; Yamamoto, M.; Mann, G. E. Role of Nrf2 in the regulation of CD36 and stress protein expression in murine macrophages: activation by oxidatively modified LDL and 4-hydroxynonenal. Circ. Res. 94:609–616; 2004.
- 50. Jickling, G. C., Liu, D., Stamova, B., Ander, B. P., Zhan, X., Lu, A., et al. (2014). Hemorrhagic transformation after ischemic stroke in animals and humans. Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism, 34, 185–199.
- 51. Jin, R., Yang, G., & Li, G. (2010). Molecular insights and therapeutic targets for bloodbrain barrier disruption in ischemic stroke: Critical role of matrix metalloproteinases and tissue-type plasminogen activator. Neurobiology of Disease, 38, 376–385.
- 52. Jung M. E., and Mallet R. T., 2017. Intermittent hypoxia training: Powerful, non-invasive cerebroprotection against ethanol withdrawal excitotoxicity. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.resp.2017.08.007.
- 53. Kallio P.J.,K.Okamoto,S.O'Brienetal., "Signaltransductionin hypoxic cells: inducible nuclear translocation and recruitment of the CBP/p300 coactivator by the hypoxia-inducible factor- 1alpha," e EMBO Journal, vol. 17, no. 22, pp. 6573–6586, 1998.
- Kalogeris, T., Bao, Y., & Korthuis, R. J. (2014). Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species: A double edged sword in ischemia/reperfusion vs preconditioning. Redox Biology, 2, 702– 714.
- 55. Kang J, Rychahou PG, Ishola TA, Mourot JM, Evers BM, Chung DH. Nmyc is a novel regulator of PI3K-mediated VEGF expression in neuroblastoma. Oncogene. 2008; 27(28):3999–4007. [PubMed: 18278068]
- 56. Kato, H., & Kogure, K. (1999). Biochemical and molecular characteristics of the brain with developing cerebral infarction. Cellular and Molecular Neurobiology, 19, 93–108.
- 57. Kermani P, Rafii D, Jin DK, et al. Neurotrophins promote revascularization by local recruitment of TrkB⁺ endothelial cells and systemic mobilization of hemato- poietic progenitors. J Clin Invest 2005;115:653–63.
- 58. Kim H, Li Q, Hempstead BL, Madri JA. Paracrine and autocrine functions of brainderived neuro- trophic factor and nerve growth factor (NGF) in brain-derived endothelial cells. J Biol Chem 2004;279: 33538–46.
- 59. Kim, Y. M.; Pae, H. O.; Park, J. E.; Lee, Y. C.; Woo, J. M.; Kim, N. H.; Choi, Y. K.; Lee, B. S.; Kim, S. R.; Chung, H. T. Heme oxygenase in the regulation of vascular biology: from molecular mechanisms to therapeutic opportunities. Antioxid. Redox Signal. 14:137–167; 2011.
- 60. Kimura, C., Oike, M., & Ito, Y. (2000). Hypoxia-induced alterations in Ca2 + mobilization in brain microvascular endothelial cells. American Journal of Physiology. Heart and Circula- tory Physiology, 279, H2310–H2318.
- 61. Kimura, T., Sako, K., Tanaka, K., Kusakabe, M., Tanaka, T., & Nakada, T. (2002). Effect of mild hypothermia on energy state recovery following transient forebrain ischemia in the gerbil. Experimental Brain Research, 145, 83–90.
- Kogure, T., & Kogure, K. (1997). Molecular and biochemical events within the brain subjected to cerebral ischemia (targets for therapeutical intervention). Clinical Neuroscience, 4, 179–183.
- 63. Kotulska K, Larysz-Brysz M, Grajkowska W, Jozwiak J, Wlodarski P, Sahin M, Lewin-Kowalik J, Domanska-Pakiela D, Jozwiak S. Cardiac rhabdomyomas in tuberous sclerosis

complex show apoptosis regulation and mTOR pathway abnormalities. Pediatr Dev Pathol. 2009; 12:89–95. [PubMed: 17990907]

- 64. Kumar and D.-K. Choi, "Hypoxia inducible factor pathway and physiological adaptation: a cell survival pathway?" Mediators of Inflammation, vol. 2015, no. 1, pp. 1–11, 2015.
- 65. Lavie P, Herer P, Hoffstein V. Obstructive sleep apnoea syndrome as a risk factor for hypertension: population study. Brit Med J 320:479-482, 2000.
- 66. Leuenberger UA, Brubaker D, Quraishi S, Hogeman CS, Imadojemu VA, Gray KS. Effects of intermittent hypoxia on sympathetic activity and blood pressure in humans. Auton Neurosci 121:87-93, 2005.
- 67. Li, Y., Lu, Z., Keogh, C. L., Yu, S. P., & Wei, L. (2007). Erythropoietin-induced neurovascular protection, angiogenesis, and cerebral blood flow restoration after focal ischemia in mice. Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism, 27, 1043–1054.
- 68. Liu X, Xu D, Hall JR, Ross S, Chen S, Liu H, Mallet RT, Shi X. Enhanced Cerebral Perfusion during Brief Exposures to Cyclic Intermittent Hypoxemia. J Appl Physiol (1995). 2017.
- 69. Loor, G., & Schumacker, P. T. (2008). Role of hypoxia-inducible factor in cell survival dur- ing myocardial ischemia-reperfusion. Cell Death and Differentiation, 15, 686–690.
- Lourhmati, A., Buniatian, G. H., Paul, C., Verleysdonk, S., Buecheler, R., Buadze, M., et al. (2013). Age-dependent astroglial vulnerability to hypoxia and glutamate: The role for erythropoietin. PloS One, 8, e77182.
- Lovett-Barr MR, Satriotomo I, Muir GD, Wilkerson JE, Hoffman MS, Vinit S, Mitchell GS. Repetitive intermittent hypoxia induces respiratory and somatic motor recovery after chronic cervical spinal injury. J Neurosci 2012;32:3591-3600.
- 72. Lucy SD, Hughson RL, Jowalchuk JM, Paterson DH, Cunningham DA. Body position and cardiac dynamic and chronotropic responses to steady-state isocapnic hypoxaemia in humans. Exp Physiol 85:227-237, 2000.
- 73. Lyamina, N. P., Lyamina, S. V., Senchiknin, V. N., Mallet, R. T., Downey, H. F., and Manukhina, E. B. (2011). Normobaric hypoxia conditioning reduces blood pressure and normalizes nitric oxide synthesis in patients with arterial hypertension. J Appl Physiol.
- 74. Maiese, K. (2001). The dynamics of cellular injury: Transformation into neuronal and vascular protection. Histology and Histopathology, 16, 633–644.
- Mallet R. T., Ryou M. Erythropoietin: Endogenous Protection of Ischemic Brain. In: Gerald Litwack, editor, Vitamins and Hormones, Vol. 105, Burlington: Academic Press, 2017, pp. 197-232. ISBN: 978-0-12-812265-5.
- 76. Manukhina E. B., Downey H. F., Shi X., and Mallet R. T. Intermittent hypoxia training protects cerebrovascular function in Alzheimer's disease. Experimental Biology and Medicine 2016; 241: 1351–1363. DOI: 10.1177/1535370216649060.
- Manukhina, E. B., Downey, H. F., & Mallet, R. T. (2006). Role of nitric oxide in cardiovascular adaptation to intermittent hypoxia. Experimental Biology and Medicine, 231, 343–365.
- Manukhina, E. B., Downey, H. F., & Mallet, R. T. (2006). Role of nitric oxide in cardiovascular adaptation to intermittent hypoxia. Experimental Biology and Medicine, 231, 343–365.
- 79. Merelli, A., Czornyj, L., & Lazarowski, A. (2015). Erythropoietin as a new therapeutic opportunity in brain inflammation and neurodegenerative diseases. The International Jour-

nal of Neuroscience, 125, 793-797.

- Miyazawa M, Yasuda M, Fujita M, Hirabayashi K, Hirasawa T, Kajiwara H, Muramatsu T, Miyazaki S, Harasawa M, Matsui N, Ogane N, Murakami M, Mikami M, Yanase T, Osamura RY. Granulosa cell tumor with activated mTORHIF-1alpha-VEGF pathway. J Obstet Gynaecol Res. 2010; 36(2):448–453. [PubMed: 20492406]
- Mokhlesi, B., Ham, S.A., Gozal, D., 2016. The effect of sex and age on the comorbidity burden of OSA: an observational analysis from a large nationwide US health claims database. Eur. Respir. J. 47, 1162–1169.
- 82. Moorthy, K., Sharma, D., Basir, S.F., Baquer, N.Z., 2005. Administration of estradiol and progesterone modulate the activities of antioxidant enzyme and aminotransferases in naturally menopausal rats. Exp. Gerontol. 40, 295–302.
- Mozaffarian, D., Benjamin, E. J., Go, A. S., American Heart Association Statistics Commit- tee, & Stroke Statistics Committee. (2016). Heart disease and stroke statistics— 2016 update: A report from the American Heart Association. Circulation, 133, e38–e360.
- 84. Nakamura K, Martin KC, Jackson JK, Beppu K, Woo CW, Thiele CJ. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor activation of TrkB induces vascular endothelial growth factor expression via hypoxia-inducible factor- 1α in neuroblastoma cells. Cancer Res 2006;66:4249-4255.
- 85. Niture SK, Khatri R, Jaiswal AK (2014) Regulation of Nrf2-an update. Free Radic Biol Med 66:36–44
- 86. Olmez, I., & Ozyurt, H. (2012). Reactive oxygen species and ischemic cerebrovascular disease. Neurochemistry International, 60, 208–212.
- 87. Ovbiagele B., Nguyen-Huynh M. N. Stroke Epidemiology: Advancing Our Understand of Disease Mechanism and Therapy. The American Society for Experimental Neuro Therapeutics, Inc. 2011. doi:10.1007/s13311-011-0053-1.
- 88. Paciaroni, M., Caso, V., & Agnelli, G. (2009). The concept of ischemic penumbra in acute stroke and therapeutic opportunities. European Neurology, 61, 321–330.
- 89. Pajovic, S.B., Saicic, Z.S., 2008. Modulation of antioxidant enzyme activities by sexual steroid hormones. Physiol. Res. 57, 801–811.
- 90. Parish HM, Somers VK. Obstructive sleep apnea and cardiovascular disease. Mayo Clin Proc 79:1036-1046, 2004.
- 91. Prentice, H., Modi, J. P., & Wu, J. Y. (2015). Mechanisms of neuronal protection against excitotoxicity, endoplasmic reticulum stress, and mitochondrial dysfunction in stroke and neurodegenerative diseases. Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity, 2015, 964518.
- 92. Pugh C. W., J. F. O'Rourke, M. Nagao, J. M. Gleadle, and P. J. Ratcli e, "Activation of hypoxia-inducible factor-1; De nition of regulatory domains within the *α* subunit," e Journal of Biological Chemistry, vol. 272, no. 17, pp. 11205–11214, 1997.
- Rami, A., Bechmann, I., & Stehle, J. H. (2008). Exploiting endogenous anti-apoptotic proteins for novel therapeutic strategies in cerebral ischemia. Progress in Neurobiology, 85, 273–296.
- 94. Rangarajan, V., & Juul, S. E. (2014). Erythropoietin: Emerging role of erythropoietin in neonatal neuroprotection. Pediatric Neurology, 51, 481–488.
- 95. Ratilal, B. O., Arroja, M. M., Rocha, J. P., Fernandes, A. M., Barateiro, A. P., Brites, D. M., et al. (2014). Neuroprotective effects of erythropoietin pretreatment in a rodent model of transient middle cerebral artery occlusion. Journal of Neurosurgery, 121, 55–62.
- 96. Reddy, S., Jones, A. D., Cross, C. E., Wong, P. S., & Van Der Vliet, A. (2000). Inactivation

of creatine kinase by S-glutathionylation of the active-site cysteinyl residue. The Biochemical Journal, 347, 821–827.

- 97. Redline, S., Kump, K., Tishler, P.V., Browner, I., Ferrette, V., 1994. Gender differences in sleep disordered breathing in a community-based sample. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 149, 722–726.
- Robertson, C. L., Scafidi, S., McKenna, M. C., & Fiskum, G. (2009). Mitochondrial mechanisms of cell death and neuroprotection in pediatric ischemic and traumatic brain injury. Experimental Neurology, 218, 371–380.
- Roger, V. L., Go, A. S., Lloyd-Jones, D. M., American Heart Association Statistics Committee, & Stroke Statistics Committee. (2012). Heart disease and stroke statistics–2012 update. Circulation, 125, e2–e220.
- Ruscher, K., Freyer, D., Karsch, M., Isaev, N., Megow, D., Sawitzki, B., et al. (2002). Eryth- ropoietin is a paracrine mediator of ischemic tolerance in the brain: Evidence from an in vitro model. The Journal of Neuroscience, 22, 10291–10301.
- 101. Ryou MG, Choudhury GR, Li W, Winters A, Yuan F, Liu R, Yang SH. Methylene blue-induced neuronal protective mechanism against hypoxia-reoxygenation stress. Neuroscience 2015;301:193-203.
- 102. S. Stewart, C.L. Hart, D.J. Hole, et al., A population-based study of the long- term risks associated with atrial fibrillation: 20-year follow-up of the Ren- frew/Paisley study, Am. J. Med. 113 (2002) 359e364.
- 103. Sakanaka, M., Wen, T. C., Matsuda, S., Masuda, S., Morishita, E., Nagao, M., et al. (1998). In vivo evidence that erythropoietin protects neurons from ischemic damage. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 95, 4635–4640.
- 104. Scholz, J., Niibori, Y.W., Frankland, P., P Lerch, J., 2015. Rotarod training in mice is associated with changes in brain structure observable with multimodal MRI. Neuroimage 107, 182e189.
- 105. Selivanov, V. A., Votyakova, T. V., Pivtoraiko, V. N., Zeak, J., Sukhomlin, T., Trucco, M., et al. (2011). Reactive oxygen species production by forward and reverse electron fluxes in the mitochondrial respiratory chain. PLoS Computational Biology, 7, e1001115.
- 106. Serebrovskaya TV, Manukhina EB, Smith ML, Downey HF, Mallet RT. Intermittent hypoxia: cause of or therapy for systemic hypotension? Exp Biol Med 2008;233:627-50.
- 107. Shackelford DB, Vasquez DS, Corbeil J, Wu S, Leblanc M, Wu CL, Vera DR, Shaw RJ. mTOR and HIF-1alpha-mediated tumor metabolism in an LKB1 mouse model of Peutz-Jeghers syndrome. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2009; 106(27):11137–11142. [PubMed: 19541609]
- 108. Shepard JW Jr. Gas exchange and hemodynamics during sleep. Med Clin North Am 69:1243-1264, 1985.
- Shiotsuki, H., Yoshimi, K., Shimo, Y., Funayama, M., Takamatsu, Y., Ikeda, K., Takahashi, R., Kitazawa, S., Hattori, N., 2010. A rotarod test for evaluation of motor skill learning. J. Neurosci. Methods 189, 180e185.
- 110. Shuhai Shi, Zhifeng Qi, Qingfeng Ma, Rong Pan, Graham S. Timmins, Yongmei Zhao, Wenjuan Shi, Yunzhou Zhang, Xunming Ji and Ke Jian Liu. Normobaric

Hyperoxia Reduces Blood Occludin Fragments in Rats and Patients With Acute Ischemic Stroke. Stroke 2017; 48:2848-2854, originally published September 20, 2017.

- 111. Sims, B., Clarke, M., Njah, W., Hopkins, E. S., & Sontheimer, H. (2010). Erythropoietin-induced neuroprotection requires cysteine glutamate exchanger activity. Brain Research, 1321, 88–95.
- 112. Smeyne RJ, Klein R, Schnapp A, et al. Severe sensory and sympathetic neuropathies in mice carrying a disrupted Trk/NGF receptor gene. Nature (Lond) 1994; 368:246–9.
- 113. Sola, A., Rogido, M., Lee, B. H., Genetta, T., & Wen, T. C. (2005). Erythropoietin after focal cerebral ischemia activates the Janus kinase-signal transducer and activator of transcription signaling pathway and improves brain injury in postnatal day 7 rats. Pediatric Research, 57, 481–487.
- 114. Spirli C, Okolicsanyi S, Fiorotto R, Fabris L, Cadamuro M, Lecchi S, Tian X, Somlo S, Strazzabosco M. Mammalian target of rapamycin regulates vascular endothelial growth factor- dependent liver cyst growth in polycystin-2-defective mice. Hepatology. 2010; 51(5):1778–1788. [PubMed: 20131403]
- 115. Swanson, R. A., Ying, W., & Kauppinen, T. M. (2004). Astrocyte influences on ischemic neuronal death. Current Molecular Medicine, 4, 193–205.
- 116. Turner, R. J., & Sharp, F. R. (2016). Implications of MMP9 for blood brain barrier disrup- tion and hemorrhagic transformation following ischemic stroke. Frontiers in Cellular Neu- roscience, 10, 1–13.
- 117. Uluç, K., Miranpuri, A., Kujoth, G.C., Aktüre, E., Başkaya, M.K. Focal Cerebral Ischemia Model by Endovascular Suture Occlusion of the Middle Cerebral Artery in the Rat. J. Vis. Exp. (48), e1978, doi:10.3791/1978 (2011)
- 118. Vafadari, B., Salamian, A., & Kaczmarek, L. (2016). MMP-9 in translation: From molecule to brain physiology, pathology and therapy. Journal of Neurochemistry, 139(Suppl. 2), 91–114.
- 119. Valipour, A., 2012. Gender-related differences in the obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. Pneumologie 66, 584–588.
- 120. Vargas MR, Johnson JA (2009) The Nrf2-ARE cytoprotective pathway in astrocytes. Expert Rev Mol Med 11:e17
- 121. Villa, P., Bigini, P., Mennini, T., Agnello, D., Laragione, T., Cagnotto, A., et al. (2003). Erythropoietin selectively attenuates cytokine production and inflammation in cerebral ischemia by targeting neuronal apoptosis. The Journal of Experimental Medicine, 198, 971–975.
- 122. Vorhees C. V., Williams M. T. Morris water maze: procedures for assessing spatial and related forms of learning and memory. Nature Protocols. 2006;1:848–858. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2006.116.
- 123. Wakabayashi, N.; Slocum, S. L.; Skoko, J. J.; Shin, S.; Kensler, T. W. When NRF2 talks, who's listening? Antioxid. Redox Signal. 13:1649–1663; 2010.
- 124. Wang, R., Wu, X., Liang, J., Qi, Z., Liu, X., Min, L., et al. (2015). Intra-artery infusion of recombinant human erythropoietin reduces blood-brain barrier disruption in rats following cerebral ischemia and reperfusion. The International Journal of Neuroscience, 125, 693–702.
- 125. Wang, R., Wu, X., Liang, J., Qi, Z., Liu, X., Min, L., et al. (2015). Intra-artery infusion of recombinant human erythropoietin reduces blood-brain barrier disruption in

rats fol- lowing cerebral ischemia and reperfusion. The International Journal of Neuroscience, 125, 693-702.

- 126. Wen, T. C., Sadamoto, Y., Tanaka, J., Zhu, P. X., Nakata, K., Ma, Y. J., et al. (2002). Erythropoietin protects neurons against chemical hypoxia and cerebral ischemic injury by up-regulating Bcl-xL expression. Journal of Neuroscience Research, 67, 795– 803.
- 127. White SG, Fletcher EC, Miller CC. Acute systemic blood pressure elevation in obstructive versus non-obstructive breathhold. J Appl Physiol 79:324-330, 1995.
- 128. Xiaoyan Zhu, Magalie Fréchou, Philippe Liere, Shaodong Zhang, Antoine Pianos, Fernandez Neïké, Christian Denier, Claudia Mattern, Michael Schumacher and Rachida Guennoun. A role of endogenous progesterone in stroke cerebroprotection revealed by the neural-specific deletion of its intracellular receptors. J. Neurosci; 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3874-16.2017.
- 129. Young T, Peppard P, Palta M, Hla KM, Finn L, Morgan B, Skatrud J. Populationbased study of sleep-disordered breathing as a risk factor for hypertension. Arch Intern Med 157:146-1752, 1997.
- Young, T., Finn, L., Austin, D., Peterson, A., 2003. Menopausal status and sleepdisordered breathing in the Wisconsin Sleep Cohort Study. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 167, 1181–1185.
- Young, T., Palta, M., Dempsey, J., Skatrud, J., Weber, S., Badr, S., 1993. The occurrence of sleep-disordered breathing among middle-aged adults. N. Engl. J. Med. 328, 1230–1235.
- 132. Zhao, H., Wang, R., Wu, X., Liang, J., Qi, Z., Liu, X., et al. (2015). Erythropoietin deliv- ered via intra-arterial infusion reduces endoplasmic reticulum stress in brain microvessels of rats following cerebral ischemia and reperfusion. Journal of Neuroimmune Pharmacology, 10, 153–161.
- 133. Zheng, Z., Zhao, H., Steinberg, G. K., & Yenari, M. A. (2003). Cellular and molecular events underlying ischemia-induced neuronal apoptosis. Drug News & Perspectives, 16, 497–503.
- 134. Zong, P., Setty, S., Sun, W., Martinez, R., Tune, J.D., Ehrenburg, I.V., Tkatchouk, E.N., Mallet, R.T., Downey, H.F., 2004. Intermittent hypoxic training protects canine myocardium from infarction. Exp. Biol. Med. 229, 806–812.